Earth Negotiations Bull eti

A Reporting Service for Environment and Devel opment Negotiations

Vol. 12 No. 97 Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development Monday, 16 November 1998

REPORT OF THE FOURTH CONFERENCE OF  process toward appropriate action for the period beyond 2000,
THE PARTIESTO THE UN FRAMEWORK including the strengthening of the commitments of Annex | Parties

) through the adoption of a protocol or another legal instrument.
CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE: COP-1 also requested the Secretariat to make arrangements fc
2-13NOVEMBER 1998 sessions of SBSTA and SBI. SBSTA would serve as the link betwe
The Fourth Conference of the Partiesto the UN Framework scientific, technical and technological assessments, the informatio
Convention on Climate Change (FCCC) was held from 2-13 provided by competent international bodies, and the policy-oriente

November 1998 in BuenosAires, Argentina, and wasattended by over  N€€ds of the COP. During the AGBM process, SBSTA addressed
5,000 participants. During the two-week meeting, delegates deli ber- several issues, including the treatment of the IPCC's Second Asse
ated decisionsfor the COP during the ninth sessions of the Subsidiary ~ Ment Report (SAR). SBI was created to develop recommendations
Body for Implementation (SBI-9) and the Subsidiary Body for Scien- assist the COPIin thg review and assessment of the |mplemerjtat|o
tific and Technological Advice (SBSTA-9). Issuesrelated to the Kyoto the Convention and in the preparation and implementation of its de
Protocol were considered injoint SBI/SBSTA sessions. A high-level ~ SIons. SBl also addressed several key issues during the AGBM
segment, which heard statements from over 100 ministersand heads ~ Process, such as the national communications and activities imple
of delegation, was convened on Thursday, 12 November. mented jointly (AlJ). _ _
Following hours of high-level “closed door” negotiations and a __ 1heAdHoc Group on Article 13 (AG13) was set up to consid
final plenary session that concluded early Saturday morning, deIeg%%é%b“Shmem of a multilateral consultative process available to
adopted the Buenos Aires Plan of Action. Under the Plan of Action|, arties to resolve questions on implementation. AG13-1, held from
the Parties declared their determination to strengthen the implemesfta31 October 1995 in Geneva, decided to request Parties, non-
tion of the Convention and prepare for the future entry into force of fHdties, and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizatio

Kyoto Protocol. The Plan contains the Parties’ resolution to demor{® Make written submissions in response to a questionnaire on a m
strate substantial progress on: the financial mechanism; the develéfieral consultative process (MCP). Delegates continued their disc

ment and transfer of technology; the implementation of FCCC
Articles 4.8 and 4.9, as well as Protocol Articles 2.3 and 3.14; actii- INTHISISSUE
ties implemented jointly (AlJ); the mechanisms of the Kyoto Protodol;

and the preparations for COP/MOP-1.

ABRIEFHISTORY OF THEFCCCAND THEKYOTO
PROTOCOL Reportof COP-4 ............................... .2
.2

The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Chang

A Brief History of the FCCC and the Kyoto Protocol ....].1

was adopted on 9 May 1992, and was opened for signature at the UN ﬁ-:zﬁlgé?%Eg%é?/ircseuem'ﬁc and 3
Conference on Environment and Development in June 1992. The | Subsidiary Body for Im’ .I.er.n.e.n.tét.ic.)ﬁ """"""" ' .6
Convention entered into force on 21 March 1994, 90 days after redeipt SBI/SBS1¥A ] 'yt S plementation. .. .......... : 3
of the 50th ratification. It currently has been ratified by 176 countri¢s. Presidential é"n ESSIONS .y 'iO
COP-1: The first meeting of the Conference of the Parties to th¢ ngﬁl_l_il\q/:s:ﬁg]nc;ny """"""""""" 1
FCCC (COP-1) took place in Berlin from 28 March - 7 April 1995. Ip losi 9 | GMENL. e 1o
addition to addressing a number of important issues related to the ClosingPlenary ...............ooeviveiennnn, -1
future of the Convention, delegates reached agreement on what many . .
believed to be the central issue before COP-1 — adequacy of conjmitA Brief Analysis of COP-4......................... 13
ments, the "Berlin Mandate." The result was to establish an open- )
endedAd Hoc Group on the Berlin Mandate (AGBM) to begin a Thlngs toLook For. . ...... ... .14

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Chad Carpenter LL.M. <chadc@iisd.org>, Angela Churie <churie@I.kth.se>| Victol
Kellett <vkellett@iisd.ca>, Greg Picker <gregpicker@hotmail.com>, Lavanya Rajamani LL.M. <lrajamani@hotmail.com>. The HRiitoelia Chasek, Ph.D.
<pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor is Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The WWW Content Editor is Petpfddoear@ecology.u-net.com> and
WWW design by Andrei Henry <ahenry@iisd.ca>. Digital photos by Leila Mead <leila@interport.net>. Digital engineering byeBeticBavid @virtualstockholm.net> and
Chris Spence <spencechris@hotmail.com>. Logistics by Molly Rosenman <mrosenman@iisd.ca>. French translation by Mongi GadgoGadtidum@enb.intl.tn>. The
Sustaining Donors of tHaulletin are the Netherlands Ministry for Development Cooperation, the Government of Canada (through CIDA) and the United StéitésS#iioug
General Support for tHaulletin during 1998 is provided by the United Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID), the German Federal Minigittyrohent
(BMU), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Swiss Office for Environment, Forests and Landscape, the European C¢p@rxi)tithe Ministries of Environment and
Foreign Affairs of Austria, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Finland, the Ministries of Foreign AffaiEsn@inchment of Norway, the Government jo
Sweden, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the Global Environment Facility (GEF) and the Ministry for traémwréeeland. Specific support f6NB
coverage of COP-4 is provided by Germany’s GTZ and the UNFCCC SecretariBarithiegotiationsBulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and fax: +1-212-
644-0206. 11ISD can be contacted at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada. The opinemhinekpEessh Negotiations Bulletin are
those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 11ISD and other funders. Excerptd&acimNegotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publicatigns

only and only with appropriate academic citation. Electronic versions Bittetin are sent to e-mail distribution lists <http://iisd.ca/enb/email.asp> and full multimedia coyerage
of COP-4 can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/climate/ba/. The satellite image was taken aboAieeBu@eni®®8 The Living Earth, Inc. http:{/
livingearth.com. For information on tlrth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.

=




Monday, 16 November 1998

Vol. 12 No. 97 Page 2

sion over the course of three meetings. At their fifth session, they
agreed that the M CP should be advisory rather than supervisory in
nature and AG13 should completeitswork by COP-4.

ADHOC GROUPON THE BERLIN MANDATE: The AGBM
met eight times between August 1995 and COP-3 in December 1997.
During thefirst three sessions, del egates focused on analyzing and
assessing possible policies and measures to strengthen the commit-
ments of Annex | Parties, how Annex | countries might distribute or
share new commitments and whether commitments should take the
form of an amendment or protocol. AGBM-4, which coincided with
COP-2in Genevain July 1996, completed itsin-depth analysis of the
likely elements of aprotocol and States appeared ready to prepare a
negotiating text. At AGBM-5, which met in December 1996, del egates
recognized the need to decide whether or not to allow mechanismsthat
would provide Annex | Partieswith flexibility in meeting quantified
emission limitation and reduction objectives (QELROS).

Asthe Protocol was drafted during the sixth and seventh sessions
of the AGBM, in March and August 1997, respectively, delegates
"streamlined" aframework compilation text by merging or eliminating
some overlapping provisions within the myriad of proposals. Much of
the discussion centered on aproposal fromthe EU for al5%-cutina
"basket" of three greenhouse gases by the year 2010 compared to 1990
levels. In October 1997, as AGBM-8 began, US President Bill Clinton
included acall for "meaningful participation” by developing countries
in the negotiating position he announced in Washington. With those
words, the debates that shaped agreement back in 1995 resurfaced,
with aninsistence on G-77/Chinainvolvement once again linked to the
level of ambition acceptable by the US. In response, the G-77/China
distanced itself from attemptsto draw devel oping countriesinto
agreeing to anything that could beinterpreted as new commitments.

COP-3: The Third Conference of the Parties (COP-3) tothe FCCC
was held from 1 - 11 December 1997 in Kyoto, Japan. Over 10,000
participants, including representatives from governments, intergov-
ernmental organizations, NGOsand the press, attended the Confer-
ence, which included ahigh-level segment featuring statementsfrom
over 125 ministers. Following aweek and ahalf of intense formal and
informal negotiations, including a session that began on thefinal
evening and lasted into thefollowing day, Partiesto the FCCC adopted
the Kyoto Protocol on 11 December.

Inthe Kyoto Protocol, Annex | Partiesto the FCCC agreed to
commitmentswith aview to reducing their overall emissions of six
greenhouse gases (GHGS) by at |east 5% below 1990 level s between
2008 and 2012. The Protocol al so establishes emissionstrading, "joint
implementation” between devel oped countries, and a" clean devel op-
ment mechanism" (CDM) to encourage joint emissions reduction
projects between devel oped and devel oping countries. Asof 13
November 1998, 60 countries have signed the Kyoto Protocoal.

POST-KYOTO FCCC MEETINGS: The subsidiary bodies of
the FCCC met from 2-12 June 1998 in Bonn, Germany. Thesewerethe
first formal FCCC meetings since the adoption of the Kyoto Protocol.
SBSTA-8 agreed to draft conclusionson, inter alia, cooperation with
relevant international organizations, methodological issues, and
education and training. SBI-8 reached conclusionson, inter alia,
national communications, the financial mechanism and the second
review of adequacy of Annex | Party commitments. Initssixth session,
the AG13-6 concluded itswork on the functions of the Multilateral
Consultative Process (MCP). After joint SBI/SBSTA consideration
and extensive contact group debates on the flexibility mechanisms,
del egates could only agree to acompilation document containing
proposals from the G-77/China, the EU and the US on theissuesfor
discussion and frameworks for implementation.

REPORT OF COP-4

PLENARY

In opening plenary on Monday, 2 November, COP-3 President
Hiroshi Ohki (Japan) recalled theimportant role played by COP-3in
responding to the Berlin Mandate and said COP-4 faces the challenge
of maintaining the political momentum created in Kyoto. He noted the
need to review existing economic structuresand re-examinelifestyles.

MariaJuliaAlsogaray, Secretary of Natural Resourcesand
Sustainable Devel opment of Argentina, was el ected President of COP-

4. She noted that while Argentinawas not one of the countriesthat has
"historic responsibilities’ for the climate change problem, it wished to
belong to the group holding future responsibilities for commitment
leading to asolution. She said shewanted COP-4 to signal anew
momentum in the process and said an action plan for future work
should be established. She stated that devel oping countries share some
responsibility for climate change and they have an ethical duty to
ensure sustainabl e devel opment.

Michael Zammit Cutajar, Executive Secretary of the FCCC, noted

that thiswasthefirst COPto be held in adevel oping country. He antic-
ipated that an action plan with ambitious and politically firm deadlines
would be created asaresult of thismeeting. He said COP-4 presented
an opportunity to revitalize the FCCC, perhaps through strengthening
the transfer of technology and know-how and financial support. COP-
4 could mark the occasion where the business community increased its
rolein combating climate change through efficient programmes
conducted in an equitable way.

Thefollowing del egates were then el ected as officers of the COP:

Papa Cham (The Gambia); Mohamed Al Sabban (Saudi Arabia);

Tengiz Gzirishvili (Georgia); Harald Dovland (Norway); Ole Ploug-
mann (Denmark); Espen Rgnneberg, (Marshall Islands); John Ashe
(Antigua and Barbuda); Bakary Kante (Senegal); Kok Kee Chow
(Malaysia); and Maciej Sadowski (Poland).

On organizational matters, the Executive Secretary proposed
changes to the provisional agenda (FCCC/CP/1998/1). SAUDI
ARABIA, supported by KUWAIT, proposed addressing Protocol Arti-
cles 2.3 and 3.14 (adverse impacts) as a separate item on the agenc
MAURITANIA noted that no objections were raised to the proposed
agenda changes during informal consultations on 1 November. As a
compromise, the Executive Secretary proposed adding Protocol Arti
cles 2.3 and 3.14 in parentheses to the agenda item on FCCC Article
4.8 and 4.9 (adverse impacts). SAUDI ARABIA, supported by VENE
ZUELA, accepted the proposal, but stressed that discussion under It
5 (matters related to the Kyoto Protocol) should allow time for Article:
2.3 and 3.14. The plenary adjourned to allow the subsidiary bodies t
begin their work.

On Friday, 6 November, delegates met in a "stock-taking" plenary
COP-4 President Alsogaray offered condolences to the Caribbean a
Latin American countries devastated by Hurricane Mitch. She noted
that floods, fires, droughts and hurricanes had profoundly affected
countries around the world and suggested that "Mother Nature" was
reminding delegates that urgent action was needed. Delegates
observed a moment of silence for the recent tragedies at the request
INDONESIA, on behalf of the G-77/China. He also proposed that the
Secretariat draft a statement of sympathy for the affected countries.
The President also reported that Antigua and Barbuda ratified the
Kyoto Protocol on 3 November.

Delegates also heard reports from the Chairs of the Subsidiary
Bodies. The Chair of AG13, Patrick Széll (UK), presented the draft
decision on the Multilateral Consultative Process (FCCC/CP/1998/
L.3). He reported that Parties had accepted the thrust of the proposa
However, delegates did not agree on the size and composition of the
Multilateral Consultative Committee. The President said she would
hold intersessional meetings to tackle outstanding issues.



Voal. 12 No. 97 Page 3

Monday, 16 November 1998

Delegates al so heard statementsfrom: Hama ArbaDiallo, Execu-
tive Secretary of the UN Convention to Combat Desertification
(CCD); William Kennedy, Senior Officer for the European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development (EBRD); Prodipto Ghosh, Senior
Environment Specialist from the Asian Development Bank (ADB);
and Walter Arensberg, Chief of the Environmental Division of the
Inter-American Development Bank (IDB); and the Convention on
Biological Diversity (CBD) Secretariat.

VOLUNTARY COMMITMENTS: During the plenary on
Monday, 2 November, del egates discussed voluntary commitments by
non-Annex | Parties (Agendaltem 6) when considering the agenda.
ARGENTINA recalled itsrequest to include thisitem on the agenda
and noted that no consensus had emerged despiteits effortsto
encourage consultations.

INDONESIA, on behalf of the G-77/CHINA, said thisissue had
been deliberated at length, but no consensus had been reached. He
proposed adoption of the agendawithout Item 6. INDIA recalled that
the debate at Kyoto rejected the idea of voluntary commitments,
stating it was not implied in the principle of common but differentiated
responsibilities. SAUDI ARABIA, KUWAIT, VENEZUELA and
ALGERIA cautioned that discussion of theissue at this stagewould be
divisiveand distract from discussions of compliance and continuing
increasesin devel oped countries’ emissions. BRAZIL described the
FCCC asan exercisein burden sharing, recognizing differentiated
responsibilities between Annex | and non-Annex | Parties. He noted
that non-Annex | Parties are well ahead in meeting their existing
commitments and, with CHINA, cautioned that thisitem was not
intended to promote the FCCC, but to help some countries avoid
existing commitments. IRAN and UNITED ARAB EMIRATES noted
that neither the FCCC nor the Kyoto Protocol providesfor voluntary
commitments and cautioned that the discussion could lead to theimpo-
sition of commitments on devel oping countries.

CHINA noted that devel oped country emissionswere projected to
be 5% above 1990 level s by 2000 and 13% above 1990 levelsby 2010.
He distinguished developing country "survival emissions’ from devel-
oped country "luxury emissions" and said developing countriesrisked
losing financial assistance and technology transfer under the FCCC.
He said voluntary commitmentswould create anew category of
Parties under the FCCC and could destroy the unity of the G-77/China.
He said the COP Presidency should remain neutral. QATAR, TOGO,
CUBA, THAILAND and UGANDA supported the G-77/China.

ZIMBABWE, TANZANIA and SOUTH AFRICA said method-
ological and institutional issuesrelating to the flexibility mechanisms,
such asthe CDM, should be the focus of deliberation. SAMOA
acknowledged that the Convention and its objectives stood to gain
from afurther discussion of voluntary commitments, but discussion at
this stage would be detrimental. Discussions should focus on what
could be expected from devel oping countries and initiatives Annex |
countries could take to assist devel oping countries. COLOMBIA
suggested that the vulnerability of developing nations, rather than their
commitments, be discussed. CHILE said several developing countries
were making serious effortsto limit GHG emissions and favored an
exchange of views on voluntary cooperation, without entailing binding
obligations or ignoring the principle of common but differentiated
responsibilities.

AUSTRALIA noted that Annex | countries alone cannot fulfill the
goasof the FCCC and said it was a sensitive issue that should be
discussed in anon-controversial manner. With JAPAN, she said that
non-Annex | Partieswishing to adopt voluntary commitments must be
given an opportunity to consider their options under the Kyoto
Protocol.

The US expressed regret that divisions among Partieswould
prevent delegatesfrom putting al theissues on thetable at this session.
An open and full discussion on options could clarify anumber of ques-
tions, including: how Partieswould join Annex B; how baseyears
would be determined; how Partieswould devel op targets; and whether

Partieswould still be ableto host CDM projects. With JAPAN and
CANADA, NEW ZEALAND supported adiscussion on thisitem. He
said if thiswere not done, the President should use her prerogativeto
facilitateinformal consultations. The RUSSIAN FEDERATION
reminded delegatesthat within 15 years, emissionsfrom non-Annex |
countrieswould exceed those of Annex | countries. The CZECH
REPUBLIC, with HUNGARY and SLOVENIA, supported theinclu-
sion of Item 6 and noted that it could foster useful debate and dialogue.
POLAND said if Parties wanted to adhere to FCCC goals, they should
be encouraged to assume voluntary commitments. Thisdialogue

would reflect the dynamic situation in the global economy and changes
within Parties.

AUSTRIA, on behalf of the EU, said the question of broadening
commitmentsin the long term is necessary and unavoidable. He recog-
nized the achievements of many non-Annex | countries. He said it may
not be possibleto resolvethisissuein plenary and proposed that the
COP President take a decision on how to proceed.

ARGENTINA said no aspect of the FCCC and the Protocol limited
itsability to raise theissue of voluntary commitments. He said the
manner in which del egates address the i ssue would require discussion.
Del egates adopted the provisional agendawithout Item 6, asno
consensus existed on itsinclusion. The President noted that as several
Parties had expressed interest in continuing discussion, shewould
facilitateinformal consultations. CHINA cautioned against the
proposed informal consultations, stating they could jeopardize the
neutrality of the presidency. INDIA and SAUDI ARABIA observed
that theitem had been del eted because there was no consensuson
further discussion. Voluntary commitments should not be considered
and the President should not participate in consultations.

SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR SCIENTIFIC AND
TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE

SBSTA, chaired by Kok Kee Chow (Malaysia), held ten meetings,
including several joint sessionswith SBI to discuss, inter alia, the
Kyoto Pratocol mechanisms. SBSTA considered: land use change and
forestry; impact of single projects on emissions; research and system-
atic observations, methodological issues; scientific and methodol og-
ical aspects of the proposal by Brazil; development and transfer of
technol ogy; and other matters. Severa contact groups met to further
discussissuesand draft conclusions. For many issues, delegates could
not reach agreement in the contact groups and the draft decisionswere
forwarded to the COP with brackets. Outstanding i ssues were then
discussed behind closed doorsin high level consultations and the deci-
sionswere presented in final plenary.

LAND USE CHANGE AND FORESTRY: On Tuesday, 3
November, Paul Maclons (South Africa) and Maciej Sadowski
(Poland) reported on arecent workshop they co-chaired at the request
of SBSTA-8. Theworkshop focused on dataavailability based on defi-
nitions used by Parties and international organizations, including their
implications, inrelation to Kyoto Protocol Article 3.3 (forests). The
workshop coincided with an |PCC expert meeting that aimed to
prepare an outline for the special report. The Co-Chairs noted that
SBSTA may need to clarify whether and when the IPCC should
develop detailed tables, formats and instructions for addressing the
implications of the Kyoto Protocol on the Revised Guidelinesfor
national greenhouse gas (GHG) inventories.

BRAZIL noted that thisissue alone could undermine the Kyoto
Protocol if the COP takes awrong decision on how to account for the
influence of forestry on GHG concentrations. NORWAY said the
workshop reveal ed that creditsfor carbon sinks under Protocol Article
3.3 might be negative, whiletheforest, asawhole, remainsasink.
SWITZERLAND, withthe MARSHALL ISLANDS, favored defer-
ring work related to Articles 3.3 and 3.4 (agricultural soils) until the
IPCC special report isavailable. CANADA highlighted the capacity of
soilsto sequester carbon and noted the opportunity this presented to
farmersin pursuing sustainable land management practices. The



Monday, 16 November 1998 e Earth NegotiationsBulletin Vol. 12 No. 97 Page 4

PHILIPPINES, the MARSHALL ISLANDSand ARGENTINA System (GOOS) also made a presentation. Following a number of
supported anincreasein the IPCC budget to ensurefull participation statements, the SBSTA Chair noted an emerging consensus to addr
by devel oping country experts. The US underscored the ancillary the deterioration of observing systems and proposed informal consu
benefits of sequestration activities and said excluding these would tations chaired by Dr. Sue Barrell (Australia) and Dr. Mohammed

violate the Convention. JAPAN submitted two papersrelatingto Arti- ~ Mhita (Tanzania). Delegates continued discussing the GCOS Repor
cles 3.3 and 3.4 containing itemsto be examined and supporting the and the significance of its work during SBSTA plenary and called for
work schedule agreed at SBSTA-8. expansion of research and systematic observation. Many highlighte
On Tuesday, 10 November, delegates considered the Chair’s dta need to focus research and systematic observation systems on
conclusions on land use change and forestry (FCCC/SBSTA/1998developing countries and issues that were relevant to them to combs
CRP.7). The conclusions called for the organization of a second the deterioration of these systems.
SBSTA workshop prior to the tenth session to focus on issues related t®n Monday, 9 November, delegates considered draft conclusion:
Article 3.4 of the Kyoto Protocol (such as methodologies, uncertairef the informal consultations on research and systematic observatior
ties, and research and data needs) and welcomed the US offer to (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/CRP.6). The draft conclusions outlined deci-
provide a venue. SBSTA invited Parties to provide submissions onsions to develop an action plan to consider options for implementatic
issues to be considered at the workshop. At the request of the and requested the Secretariat to compile a report on priorities for acti
RUSSIAN FEDERATION and other Parties, the title of the draft ~ to improve global observing systems in relation to the needs of the
conclusion was amended to read "land use, land use change and Convention. The RUSSIAN FEDERATION proposed inclusion of

forestry." The draft conclusions were adopted as amended. systems for the measurement of GHGs and other atmospheric comg
The COP adopted the decision on land use, land use change af@nts, reference to satellite systems for data collection, and distinctic

forestry in final plenary (FCCC/CP/1998/L.5). between anthropogenic and natural climate change variations. He
IMPACT OF SINGLE PROJECTSON EMISSIONS: On suggested that the draft be amended to indicate that national meteor

Tuesday, 3 November, ICELAND submitted a draft decision that logical systems also measure GHG emissions. Delegates debated
provides for process emissions from a single project, coming into references to atmospheric observing systems and meaﬁurement of
operation after 1990 and contributing more than 5%, in the first gre_enhouse gas concentrations and 'agreed to text that 'urges Partie
commitment period, to the total greenhouse gas emissions of an ArfiiYely support national meteorological and atmospheric observing
B Party, to be reported separately and not be included in the nationg¥Stems, including measurement of greenhouse gases.” Delegates
total. This would allow the Party to exceed its assigned amount ~ debated language requesting Parties to submit information on their
provided that the total emissions of the Party are less than 0.05% djarticipation in global climate observing systems and requesting
Annex | emissions in 1990. ICELAND said this was necessary in sn#S TA to report to COP-5 on developments regarding observationa
economies because of the high proportional impact of single proje@gtworks. The demspn was adopteql as amended. .

The MARSHALL ISLANDS, supported by BRAZIL, SBSTA also considered the Chair’'s recommendation on the rela-
BARBADOS and TUVALU, said the draft decision would lead to  tionship between efforts to protect the stratospheric ozone layer and
special dispensations prior to the Kyoto Protocol's entry into force &H#@1s to safeguard the global climate system (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/
could create an incentive for emissions increases in Annex | countfidsP-8). The RUSSIAN FEDERATION said the process was moving
With AUSTRIA, CANADA and BARBADOS, he requested more  ahead too quickly and there was no need to prepare a dfl)cument tok
time for consultations. AUSTRALIA recognized the impact of singl€onsidered at the next COP. The Chair explained that a "step by stef
projects on small economies and supported establishing guidelineRgoach” was embodied in the document, from the invitation to
methodologies to specify circumstances under which single projeck&rious bodies to provide information to the report by the SBSTA to
could be accommodated. CANADA and BRAZIL said the draft dec[;he next COP. The Chair clarified that the decision on the matter wou
sion could set a precedent affecting the integrity of the Protocol. D€ taken at SBSTA-11, which would give the Secretariat ample time.

The US said the differentiation in assigned amounts in the Protgddf RUSSIAN FEDERATION suggested deleting the requirement o
allows for differences in national circumstances. He stated that @ 'cPort from the Secretariat, since the IPCC Report could provide tr
lceland's draft decision was consistent with the Protocol. ICELANIjeqU'red information. The Chair clarified there would be two separate

noted that this issue was identified at COP-3 and it was raised now/ gP°rts and the draft decision was adopted, despite the objection of t
facilitate ratification of the Protocol. He distinguished between sign ussian Federation to portions of the text. COP-4 adopted the decisi

cant proportional impacts resulting from planned projects, and une®" the issue in final plenary (FCCC/CP/1998/L..4). _
pected events. ANTIGUA and BARBUDA opposed the idea of METHODOL OGICAL ISSUESFOR GHG 'NVENT9R| ES
exceptions to the Kyoto Protocol. SBSTA considered this issue under the agenda item on “Other

On Tuesday, 10 November, delegates considered the Chair's dPAiters:” On Thursday, 5 November, SBSTA Chair Kok Kee Chow
conclusions (FCCC/SBSTA/L1998/CRP.9), which were based on explained that the methodological issues relating to Annex | national

informal consultations. Under the conclusions, SBSTA would furthé:pmmuni%ati%nstxvogld betdi‘?i“?fggéﬁggg?f_g?{ggggsgg%tg/be he
consider the issue at its tenth session. Supporting the draft decisior} C:/T9§é/8y FC?CC?/CSrgSa'rrIE/1(998/MISC & and AddD) The S
Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS) cautioned against grantin ’ -oan 1). The Secre.

exemptions prior to the Protocol's entry into force and said Parties ariat described work conducted and previous meetings held and

should explore other options. ICELAND stressed that only projectsomIineOI the plan for development of appropriate guidelines. The

with demonstrable global benefit would fall under the draft decisionccusions of the workshop would be discussed at SBSTA-10. Johr
they could not be accommodated within the Party's assigned amogitristensen (UNEP) provided background to an international collab
On the issue of precedence, he said other cases should be valued Giive reporton methodological issues. The US called for the resolu-

their own merits. The draft conclusions were accepted for forwardifig" Of these issues and expected to use them to develop guidelines
to the COP. COP-4 adopted a decision on the issue in final plenary'@tional measurement systems that could be ratified by COP-6. The
(FCCC/CP/1998/L.8) US proposed that the December workshop consider methodological

) reporting, review and assessment issues. NORWAY sought continue

Wi (F;ES%ARSTIAND EYSI;I'E'\Q'AIEIC OF’SIOEEVATI O'S\l' (?n GC -ivaluation of inventory data, including base years, as methodolo-

ednesday, 4 November, Global Climate Observing Systems (( B! improve. Chair Chow proposed that he prepare a draft decision 1
presented a Report on the Adequacy of Global Climate Observing consideration by SBSTA.

Systems. It recommendediter alia, that Parties prepare national
plans and exchange relevant data. The Global Ocean Observing



Voal. 12 No. 97 Page 5

Monday, 16 November 1998

With SWITZERLAND, the EU recognized that thereisalink
between the Montreal and Kyoto Protocols. He requested the subsid-
iary bodiesto provide alist of availabletechnologiesto limit and
reduce emissions of HFCsand PFCs. The US, with AUSTRALIA,
said there should be coordination between international environmental
agreements, but the process required careful consideration given the
possibleimplicationsfor industry. He proposed that SBSTA consider
theimpact of the phase out of substances covered under the Montreal
Protocol and asked that they consult with that body. Chair Chow
proposed holding consultations on this matter.

On Tuesday, 10 November, del egates considered the draft conclu-
sions (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/CRP.10) on methodological issues. They
noted the preparations of aworkshop to be held from 9-11 December
to resolve the identified methodol ogical issues on GHG inventories. It
requested the Secretariat to, inter alia, prepare areport on therevised
guidelinesfor Annex | communications, particularly on the GHG
inventory section, and consult with the IPCC on acomprehensivejoint
plan for the inventory programme. The conclusions were adopted by
SBSTA.

SCIENTIFIC AND METHODOLOGICAL ASPECTSOF
THE PROPOSAL BY BRAZIL: On Tuesday, 3 November, dele-
gatesdiscussed the scientific and methodol ogical aspects of aproposal
from Brazil, which was made during the AGBM processand
forwarded by COP-3to SBSTA. BRAZIL describedit astheallocation
of responsibilities among different emitters based on their actions as
measured by theincreasein global temperatures, rather than by emis-
sions. INDONESIA supported discussion of theissue. GEORGIA
stressed that monitoring of GHGs needed enhancement. The US said
using temperature change asthe soleindicator of responsibility
ignored relevant socio-economic factors.

On Monday, 9 November, del egates adopted draft conclusions on
the scientific and methodol ogical aspects of the proposal by Brazil.
Under the conclusions, SBSTA decided to consider theissue further
and called on Brazil to report at SBSTA's next session. The conclu-
sionswere adopted by SBSTA.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRANSFER OF TECHNOLOGY:
On Thursday, 5 November, SBSTA considered development and
transfer of technology (FCCC/CP/1998/6; FCCC/CP/1998/MISC.5
and Add.1-2; FCCC/TP/1998/1; FCCC/CP/1998/11/Add.1). The G-
77/CHINA said without practical technical know-how, technology
transfer would beimpossible. ARGENTINA, with AOSI'S, stressed
the need to consider adaptation aswell as mitigation. He supported a
rolefor the Secretariat in linking providers and recipients of tech-
nology and for international organizationsin providing resources.
With GRENADA and the REPUBLIC OF KOREA, CHINA empha-
sized therole of national governments and international organizations
and said technol ogy transfer should be on non-commercial and prefer-
ential terms. She added that transfer of technology relatesto the
Convention and should not be linked to the Kyoto Protocol. She ques-
tioned assessment of experiences, noting minimal progressin tech-
nology transfer since 1992, and favored focusing on existing
technologies over assessment of emerging technologies.

Noting the need for an enabling environment and the potential of
the CDM, CANADA and AUSTRALIA said the private sector should
be the main vehiclefor technology transfer. The REPUBLIC OF
KOREA and CANADA supported work oninventoriesfor sources of
new technologies and gap identification. AUSTRALIA supported
analysis of barriersto technology transfer and suggested SBSTA draw
onitsroster of experts. He proposed the establishment of an Internet-
based network to enhanceinformation dissemination. Withthe US, the
REPUBLIC OF KOREA said debates on conceptual i ssues should not
impede progress of thework programme. The US proposed that the
Secretariat prepare areport on technology transfer and devel opment
efforts by Partiesfor consideration by SBSTA at itsnext session and
endorsed the Secretariat’s proposal to establish aconsultative process

to devel op consensus on next steps. A contact group chaired by Wanna
Tanunchaiwatana (Thailand) and Renata Christ (European Commis-
sion) was convened to discussthe issue.

On Thursday, 5 November, a contact group discussed three draft
decisions proposed by the US, the G-77/Chinaand the EU (FCCC/CP/
1998/M1SC.5/Add.3). The US said communi cations between Parties
were hindered by the differing understandings of theissues. He said
technol ogy transfer should be based on country specific needsand
proposed that reference be made to successful programmes. He
supported the Secretariat’s proposal for a consultative processthat
would facilitate dial ogue between Parties.

The G-77/Chinaproposal focused on identifying means of linking
theissues and providing an interface between the providers of tech-
nology and the recipients. It proposed atechnol ogy transfer mecha-
nism (TTM) "to assist developing country Partiesto obtain their
needed environmentally sound technol ogies and know-how, condu-
civeto addressing climate change, on non-commercial and preferential
terms and thus contribute to the ultimate objective of the Convention."
Therewas consensus on the capacity building section of the G-77/
Chinaproposal, which called for efforts to enhance endogenous capac-
itiesand provide enabling environments. The US opposed the G-77/
Chinaproposal foraTTM sinceit would bedifficult to agreeonits
terms of reference. He a so opposed thereference to " non-commercial,
preferential terms." Herecalled that the reference was rejected when
the Convention was being negotiated. The del egates debated, inter
alia: the necessity, possibleform and functions of the TTM; issues
relating to the transfer of public domain technology; the features of a
consultative process; and the role of dial ogue between Parties.

The Chair noted the emerging consensus on: the need for progress;
the terms outlined in the capacity building section of the G-77/China
proposal; and the need for dialogue consultations and information
exchange. She noted that there was a convergence between aspects of
the Parties’ positions, although an agreement on terminology was
needed. She said there was disagreement on whether to have a"mecha-
nism/process/system/facility," itsformsand functions, and the
elementsfor immediate action. She proposed that the technol ogy
transfer aspects of the three proposals beintegrated into aworking
document for discussion in the working group. On Friday, 6
November, the contact group on technology transfer continued discus-
sionson the proposed draft decision.

On Tuesday, 10 November, in SBSTA plenary, delegates consid-
ered the draft conclusions on technology transfer (FCCC/SBSTA/
1998/CRP.11) requesting the SBSTA Chair to establish aconsultative
process, which would consist of regiona workshops and meetingsto
implement FCCC Article4.5 (technol ogy transfer). Partieswere
invited to provide submissionsto the Secretariat by 15 March 1999in
responseto theissueslisted in the annex to thedecision.

Del egates adopted most of the text unchanged, modifying the
preambleto reflect therole of the private sector in some countries. A
paragraph requesting SBSTA to establish a consultative processto
consider theissueslisted in the annex engendered debate. The G-77/
CHINA favored retaining referencetoaTTM. Thegroup also said the
paragraph should be considered in conjunction with abracketed refer-
ence in the annex, which required consideration of appropriate mecha-
nismsfor technology transfer with the FCCC. The PHILIPPINES
suggested that abody was needed to operationalize the process, adding
that expertsinvolved in the consultative process should be from the
FCCC roster of experts. The US, with the EU, said theaim of the
consultative process should be "meaningful and effective action.” The
G-77/CHINA indicated willingnessto accept "meaningful and effec-
tive action" if bracketswere removed from the annex.

The Chair closed the formal meeting and began informal discus-
sions. The EU said the annex was not a negotiated text and supported
the US proposal to leave the debate to the high-level segment, asit



Monday, 16 November 1998

Vol. 12 No. 97 Page 6

rel ated to other issues under negotiation. The Chair proposed compro-
misewording. After some debate, the Chair invited the EU, the USand
the G-77/Chinato discusstheissueinformally.

SBSTA reconvened at approximately 12:30 am. Chair Chow
reported that participantsin the afternoon’s consultations had agreed to
let the Chair make aproposal. He proposed the following: "to achieve
agreement on aframework for meaningful and effective actions." The
referenceto "technology transfer mechanism" would be deleted. The
text would also have SBSTA draw from theroster of experts. A brack-
eted reference in the annex asked whether existing multilateral mecha-
nismswere sufficient.

The Chair attempted to accept the text for forwarding to the COP,
but the US objected. SBSTA accepted the text, and the Chair said the
record would note the US objection. The US, supported by JAPAN,
said the action wasinappropriate and a statement in the record was
insufficient. He said the record should indicate that the decision was
accepted in the face of objection.

Infinal plenary, delegates adopted the decision on development
and transfer of technology (FCCC/CP/1998/L .16). The decision
requests SBSTA to establish a consultative process to consider the
preliminary list of issuesand questions and make recommendationson
how they should be addressed in order to achieve agreement on a
framework for meaningful and effective action to enhance technology
transfer implementation under the Convention.

REPORT OF THE SESSION: On Tuesday, 10 November,
SBSTA adopted its draft report for the ninth session (FCCC/SBSTA/
1998/L..8). Thefinal report will includethe RUSSIAN FEDERA -
TION’s objection to procedural steps embodied in the recommenda-
tion on the rel ationship between the Montreal Protocol and the FCCC
(FCCC/SBSTA/1998/CRP.8).

SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR IMPLEMENTATION

SBI, chaired by Bakary Kante (Senegal), met eight times,
including several joint sessionswith SBSTA. SBI considered: imple-
mentation of FCCC Articles4.8 and 4.9; review of information/
possibl e decisions under Decision 9/CP.1; second national communi-
cationsfrom Annex | Parties; national communicationsfrom Non-
Annex | countries; financial mechanism; administrative and financial
matters; and schedule of meetingsfor 2000-2001. Several contact
groups met to further discussissues and draft conclusions. For many
issues, del egates could not reach agreement in the contact groups and
the draft decisionswere forwarded to the COP with brackets.
Outstanding issues were then discussed behind closed doorsin high-
level consultations and the decisionswere presented in final plenary.

IMPLEMENTATION OF FCCC ARTICLES4.8AND 4.9: On
Tuesday, 3 November, Chair Kante convened a contact group, co-

subsidiary bodies (SBSTA-10 and SBI-10, June 1999); identification
of needs for further information needed (COP-5, October 1999); and
decisions made (COP-6, October 2000).

On Tuesday, 10 November, in describing the results of the contac
group, Co-Chair Kjellén said the text reflected the objectives and the
was general agreement on outstanding issues. The two bracketed p
graphs in the preamble reflected the lack of time for full negotiation.
The G-77/CHINA said there were compromises even in the unbrack:
eted text. He said the group would accept the document, including tt
brackets, to preserve momentum. The US, with the EU, said the
impression of general agreement was misleading. He said the conta
group did not discuss this text and there was no agreement on the w
plan. SAUDI ARABIA stated there was no consensus and suggestec
that if the whole text were bracketed, then all texts should be brack-
eted.

The draft decision on FCCC Articles 4.8 and 4.9 was adopted wit|
two amendments and the removal of brackets from around the entire
text (FCCC/CP/1998/L.9). Paragraph 4 in the preamble was expand
to read, Recognizing that in the implementation of the commitments
in Article 4 of the Convention, the Parties shall give full consideratior
to what actions are necessary under the Convention, including actiol
related to funding, insurance and the transfer of technology, to meett
specific needs and concerns of developing country Parties arising frc
the adverse effects of climate change and/or the impact of the imple-
mentation of response measures.” The following paragraph was sho
ened and readsNoting the provision under Article 12.8 of the
Protocol.” Compared to the draft decision, the adopted text includes :
expanded comment on the responsibilities of Annex | Parties under
Articles 4.8 and 4.9, but limits discussion of specific commitments
under Article 12 of the Protocol. The decision focuses on obtaining
and compiling further information, continuing the analysis on advers
effects and includes a work plan for future action.

REVIEW OF INFORMATION/POSSIBLE DECI SIONS
UNDER DECISION 9/CP.1: On Wednesday, 4 November, delegates
considered the review of information and possible decisions under
Article 4.2(f), which addresses amendments to FCCC Annexes
(FCCCI/CP/1998/13; FCCC/CP/1997/MISC.3). The Chair recalled
that informal consultations were held during the last two sessions, bt
no consensus emerged. PAKISTAN requested Parties to delete Turk
from Annexes | and II. The EU said all OECD countries should have
legally binding targets. Informal consultations were held on this issue

On Friday, 6 November in plenary, the President of the COP
invited comments on the draft decision on the review of implementa-
tion of commitments and of other provisions of the Convention
(FCCCI/CP/1998/L.2). Under the draft decision, the COP would
continue to the review this matter at COP-5. TURKEY reiterated that

chaired by Bo Kjellén (Sweden) and Mohammad Salamat (Iran), oits current status as was an anomaly that delays its ratification of the
Articles 4.8 and 4.9 (adverse effects) and the related articles of theConvention. PAKISTAN called for the resolution of the issue to allow
Kyoto Protocol (2.3 and 3.14). SAUDI ARABIA stressed the need f@urkey to participate in the process.

the contact group to produce an unambiguous text that could be

SECOND NATIONAL COMMUNICATIONSFROM

ad_opted by the COP. The US and CANADA indicated that the iSSU%\]NEX | PARTIES: On Wednesday’ 4 November’ de|egates
raised by Articles 4.8 and 4.9 and the subsequent decisions shouldjpgussed the full compilation and synthesis of second national
separate. With AUSTRALIA, they said the issue should be consideggthmunications from Annex | Parties. The Secretariat provided a

in a non-political manner.

review of documentation and discussed gaps in data and reporting

_ The contact group met three times. In the first session, delegat¢sCCC/CP/1998/11; FCCC/CP/1998/11/Add.1; FCCC/CP/1998/11/
discussed how to proceed. In the second and third sessions, they Add.2). The debate included reference to the in-depth review proces
discussed a Co-Chairs’ draft decision, which stated that the basic and the proposal for an exercise of data comparison (FCCC/CP/199

elements for further analysis should include: the identification of
adverse effects; determination of the impacts of implementation

4; FCCC/CP/1998/5; FCCC/CP/1998/MISC.8; FCCC/CP/1998/
INF.9). The G-77/CHINA, with the PHILIPPINES and CHINA,

measures in developing countries; the identification of the specific expressed concern about: increasing emission trends among Annex
needs and concerns of developing country Parties arising from sudParties; activities relating to financial resources and technology
adverse effects and impacts; and determining further necessary actiansfer; the lack of progress in the development of policies and
related to funding, insurance and technology transfer to meet the nasstesures; and gaps in reporting by Annex | Parties.

of developing countries. A programme of work was proposed that

included: an expert workshop (April 1999); further discussion in

NORWAY, with the EU, AUSTRALIA, the US and CANADA,
stated that: the national communications and their reviews were
important to the Convention process; reporting issues and guideline:



Voal. 12 No. 97 Page 7

Monday, 16 November 1998

required increased attention; and the Secretariat should conduct more
analytical work. The EU, NEW ZEALAND, the US, SWITZER-
LAND, CANADA and NORWAY said the third national communica-
tion should be duein 2001. The EU, NORWAY and the US supported
the Secretariat’s proposed paper on comparison of activity data, but
sought clarification on several technical and procedural issues.

A contact group on national communicationsfrom Annex | Parties,
chaired by Mohamed Ould El Ghaouth (Mauritania) and Alexander
Metalnikov (Russian Federation), met over the weekend and formu-
lated adraft decision. It proposed that the third national communica-
tionsfrom Annex | Parties be duein 2001 and that subsequent national
communications be due every threeto five years. The decision
included a statement on the need for further effortsby Partiesto
improve compl eteness, consistency and comparability of dataand
information, aswell as participating, through the SBI, in evaluating
and refining the review process. It proposed that the Secretariat
complete afeasibility study on the potential usefulness of datacompar-
ison and report on information contained in annual national inventory
submissions.

On Tuesday, 10 November, in SBI plenary, the Co-Chairs of the
contact group indicated that consensus was reached. The G-77/
CHINA proposed bracketing a paragraph in the annex that noted that
many Annex | Partieswould not reduce GHGsto 1990 levels. They
said thisissue becamelinked to discussion on FCCC Atrticle 4.2 (a)
and (b) (adequacy of commitments). Contact group Co-Chair El
Ghaouth asked the Chair not to reopen debate on an agreed decision.
The text was accepted with brackets.

Thefinal plenary adopted the decision on national communications
from Annex | Partieswith theremoval of the bracketsfrom paragraph
10(c) (FCCC/CP/1998/L..10). Thedecision requests Annex | Partiesto
submit their third national communication by 30 November 2001 and
subseguent communicationswill be due at three- to five-year intervals.

NATIONAL COMMUNICATIONSFROM NON-ANNEX |
COUNTRIES: On Thursday, 5 November, delegates discussed
national communications from non-Annex | countries (FCCC/CP/
1998/M1SC.4; FCCC/CP/1998/INF.2; FCCC/CP/1998/CRP.1). The
PHILIPPINES highlighted the need for capacity building and
financing, which should follow the guidelinesfor initial communica-
tionsin Decision 10/CP2. CHINA, supported by TOGO and the
CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC, said the decision recognized the
need for adequate and additional financial resourcesfor inventories, an
enormoustask for some devel oping countries. CHILE and
COLOMBIA described ongoing effortstoward their initial national
communications. URUGUAY and the REPUBLIC OF KOREA
described their initial communications and national efforts underway
to limit GHGs. The EU said communications should be considered on
acountry-level basis and more frequent workshops would be benefi-
cial.

On Monday, 9 November, the contact group on non-Annex |
national communications, chaired by Paul Mal cons (South Africa) and
Dan Reifsnyder (US), considered adraft Co-Chairs text. Discussion
centered on anumber of issuesincluding: whether national communi-
cationswould be evaluated and whether there would be a process of
ongoing evaluation; whether a compilation and synthesis of non-
Annex | national communi cationswould be completed, and if so
when; whether there would bein-country reviews; and whether work-
shopswould help the consideration and/or preparation of national
communications.

On Tuesday, 10 November, in SBI plenary, Co-Chair Malcons
presented the draft decision. The EU bracketed a paragraph regarding
requeststo the Secretariat. The G-77/CHINA bracketed the entiretext.
CHINA and SAUDI ARABIA said the Chair should not allow further
negotiation on thetext. After lengthy debate, the Chair called on dele-
gatesto respect the rulesand said the entire text would be bracketed for
consideration by the COP plenary.

Thefinal COP plenary adopted the decision oninitial national
communications from non-Annex | Partieswith minor changes
(FCCC/CP/1998/L.11). Paragraph 5 was amended to read: “decides tc
continue to address the consideration of communications from non-
Annex | Parties, at its fifth session, with a view to taking a further deci-
sion on this matter.” This change highlighted the ongoing nature of the
consideration of non-Annex | communications. All of the brackets
were removed and the decision was adopted.

FINANCIAL MECHANISM: On Wednesday, 4 November,
delegates debated the report of the Global Environment Facility (GEF)
(FCCC/CP/1998/12; FCCC/CP/1998/12/Add.1; FCCC/CP/1998/
MISC.3) and the financial mechanism and the review process (FCCC/
SBI/1998/MISC.4, FCCC/SBI/1998/MISC.4/Add.1 and FCCC/CP/
1998/MISC.3). Several developing country Parties suggested a polit-
ical reorientation of the GEF to meet their needs, such as the prepara-
tion of non-Annex | communications. Several developed country
Parties suggested that the GEF should operate as the Convention's
financial entity, although improvements were needed. Chair Kante
called for unity among the delegates to resolve the status of the GEF
and appealed for a solution.

On Thursday, 5 November, the contact group on the financial
mechanism, chaired by John Ashe (Antigua and Barbuda) and Dan
Reifsnyder (US), met briefly and focused on procedural matters that
would enable a decision to be reached. The G-77/CHINA, after
considering comments to their initial proposal presented in the
previous meeting, outlined two new proposals on the substantive
issues, namely, the status of and guidance to the GEF. These docu-
ments were considered in a series of contact group meetings over the
next few days.

On Friday, 6 November, the contact group discussed a draft deci-
sion presented by the G-77/China (FCCC/CP/1998/MISC.3/Add.1).
The US tabled a draft decision that focused on: improvements at the
operational level of the GEF; resolving the status of and guidance to
the GEF in one draft decision; and GEF support programmes to assist
developing countries in altering their policy and legal frameworks in
support of technology transfer. The G-77/CHINA said this proposal
did not adequately meet the needs of developing country Parties.

On Monday, 9 November, the contact group metin a closed session
and discussed a text proposed by the Co-Chairs. No decisions were
taken. Delegates indicated that they wanted feedback from other
contact groups, such as those on technology transfer and FCCC Arti-
cles 4.8 and 4.9. Delegates linked the decision on the status of the GEI
with the discussion on guidance to the GEF.

Co-Chair Ashe presented the draft decision on the financial mecha-
nism to the SBI plenary later that day. The EU bracketed paragraphs or
GEF funding for implementing adaptation responses and meeting full
agreed costs. The US bracketed language on international centers. Th
G-77/CHINA bracketed the entire text. The text was forwarded to the
COP with brackets.

After extensive consultations behind closed doors, the COP
plenary was presented with a draft decision (FCCC/CP/1998/L.22)
without brackets, which it adopted. It was agreed that the restructured
GEF shall serve as the financial mechanism. On guidance to the GEF,
the changes included: deletion of bracketed text on the provision of
new and additional funds for addressing climate change; removal of
brackets from paragraphs on funding for adaptation measures and
facilitation of access to information; and removal of brackets and
strengthening of text on meeting agreed full costs for initial and subse-
guent national communications.

SECOND REVIEW OF THE ADEQUACY OF FCCC
ARTICLE 4.2(A) AND (B): On Wednesday, 4 November, delegates
considered the second review of the adequacy of FCCC Atrticle 4.2 (a)
and (b) (FCCC/CP/1997/7; FCCC/CP/1998/MISC.6; FCCC/CP/1998/
MISC.6/Add.1). There was consensus among Parties that the current
commitments were inadequate and a decision should be reached at
COP-4. The G-77/CHINA said: the issue is important to the Conven-



Monday, 16 November 1998

Vol. 12 No. 97 Page 8

tion; aclear decision defining new commitments should be reached;
and devel oped countrieswere shirking their responsibilitiesin this
matter. Several developed countriesindicated that resolution of this
issuewas possible at COP-4, but adecision should beforward-looking
and create an enabling framework that could include abroader range of
commitments. A contact group was established to consider theissue.

On 5 November, the contact group considering the review of
Article4.2 () and (b), chaired by Jennifer Irish (Canada) and Margaret
M ukahanana (Zimbabwe) remained focused on establishing the
approach to preparing adraft statement which, according to FCCC
Article 4.2 (d), must be completed by 31 December 1998. Developing
country Partiesinsisted that a G-77/CHINA draft decision providethe
basisfor the deliberations. Other countries stated that adocument,
which compiled arange of submissionsto the Secretariat following the
June subsidiary body meetings, should serve asthe coretext for
discussions.

The group met over the weekend. A discussion of four draft
proposals, presented by AUSTRALIA, the EU, the G-77/CHINA and
the US, dominated the deliberations. Debate concerned procedural
issues on how to addressthe texts, with the G-77/CHINA indicating
rel uctance to consider acompilation text prepared by the Co-Chairs.
After extensive debate, the G-77/CHINA proposed, with the EU and
NEW ZEALAND, areworked text asanegotiating document. TheUS,
with the eventual support of G-77/CHINA, rejected the compilation
document and called on thefour draft decisionsto be presented in their
entirety to the SBI. The Partiesjustified the cautious approach, citing
thisissue’s crucial importance to national positions. CHINA said he
interpreted the USand AUSTRALIA proposals as an attempt to exact
commitmentsfrom developing countries. TheUSand AUSTRALIA
noted that the scientific and technical evaluation fromthe |PCC indi-
cated that developed country actionswould be insufficient to meet the
aims of the Convention, and the US incorporated thisinto its submis-
sion. The meeting ended without clear resolution.

On Tuesday, 10 November, Co-Chair Jennifer Irish reported to the
SBI plenary that the group agreed that commitments wereinadequate,
but did not agree on reasons nor on actionsrequired. She presented a
recommendation that the Chair conduct further consultations. Co-
Chair Margaret Mukahanana said the difficulty on reaching a
consensuswas based on different interpretations of adeguacy of
commitments. The Chair asked delegatesto forward the five draft
decisionsto the COP plenary.

During thefinal plenary, the President reported that no conclusion
was possi bl e on the second review of adequacy of Article 4.2(a) and
(b). Therewas no discussion or decision on thisissue by the COP and
the nature of future discussions on thisissue were not described.

ADMINISTRATIVE AND FINANCIAL MATTERS: On
Tuesday, 3 November, the Secretariat outlined anumber of administra-
tiveand financia matters (FCCC/CP/1998/8/Add.1; FCCC/CP/1998/
9; FCCC/CP/1998/10 and FCCC/CP/1998/INF.1). A brief discussion
ensued and the Chair decided to hold consultations on theissues
raised.

On Tuesday, 10 November, the budget group Chair Harald
Dovland (Norway) reported that no agreement had been reached on the
calendar of meetings. The US highlighted concernsregarding datesin
the draft decision. The text was adopted with the exclusion of the
calendar of meetings. The Executive Secretary reported that since
document FCCC/SBI/1998/INF.6 was distributed, financia contribu-
tions had been received from several Parties. Delegates adopted a deci-
siononthisissueinfinal plenary (FCCC/CP/1998/L.13).

SCHEDULE OF MEETINGSFOR 2000-2001: On Tuesday, 3
November, in the SBI plenary, the EU, supported by CANADA and
AUSTRALIA, proposed that COP-5 be held in 2000 rather than 1999.
With SAUDI ARABIA, CHINA, VENEZUELA and NIGERIA,
MAURITANIA objected to this proposal. If the COPis postponed, he
said governments might not feel the pressureto ratify the Protocol.
CHINA noted that several issues under the Convention remained unre-

solved and time was needed to prepare for the Protocol's entry into
force. NIGERIA objected to the US proposal for aternating ministe-
rial and non-ministerial COPs. CANADA called for consultationson
thisissue under the guidance of the Chair. Informal consultationswere
held.

On Monday, 9 November, SBI adopted the draft report of itsninth
session (FCCC/SBI/1998/L.8).

SBI/SBSTA JOINT SESSIONS

FLEXIBILITY MECHANISMS: Inajoint SBI/SBSTA plenary
on Wednesday, 4 November, del egates discussed the Protocol s flexi-
bility mechanisms contained in Article 6 (emission reduction units),
Article 12 (clean devel opment mechanism) and Article 17 (emissions
trading)(FCCC/1998/CP/MISC.7 and Add.1; FCCC/SBSTA/1998/6;
FCCCICP/1998/INF.3). The G-77/CHINA reiterated the need for the
flexibility mechanismsto proceed step-by-step. BRAZIL said the
CDM should not be operational before ratification of the Protocol and
implementation of domestic measures. AOSI S stated, inter alia, that
the concept of supplementarity should guide the mechanisms.

The AFRICAN GROUP stressed that the use of flexible mecha
nisms be limited to an agreed amount since the primary objective of
the FCCC wasto encourage domestic action. Appropriate work with
debt relief in Africawould create an enabling environment for awide
range of CDM projects. He called for apreparatory processto enable
African countriesto undertake CDM projects. He stressed the impor-
tance of equity inthe CDM and suggested focusing on infrastructure
development in the continent.

The EU stated that the mechani sms should be developed parallel to
and consi stent with each other. He said domesti ¢ actions should be the
primary means of emissions reductions and the mechanisms should be
supplemental. He called for the definition of aquantitative and qualita-
tive ceiling based on equitable terms. SWITZERL AND suggested the
creation of acompliance mechanism. The EU, SWITZERLAND and
SLOVENIA said COP-4 should agree on asmany principlesas
possible and adopt detailed schedul es to implement the Kyoto
Protocol.

AUSTRALIA said theflexibility mechanismswereto be open,
market-based, transparent, cost effective and equitable; provide
comprehensive coverage, including sinks; and befungible. With NEW
ZEALAND, she opposed restrictions on trade in assigned amounts,
characterizing them asinequitable, costly, arbitrary and difficult to
implement.

With CANADA, the USand NORWAY, JAPAN underscored the
importance of addressing the flexibility mechanismsin parallel,
reaching early agreement and devel oping awork plan for unresolved
issues. He favored giving priority to technical issues. Supported by
CANADA andthe US, he opposed quantitative ceilingsfor reductions
achieved through the flexibility mechanisms, noting that therewas no
ceiling on transfers of assigned amounts under Protocol Article 4
("bubble"). Onthe CDM, hefavored: transparency; inclusion of sink
projects; private sector involvement; use of public fundsto ensure
equitable geographical distribution of projects; and a standardized and/
or project-by-project approach for baselines. With CANADA, he said
host countries should determine sustainabl e devel opment criteria.

A joint SBI/SBSTA contact group, chaired by Luiz Gylvan Meira
Filho (Brazil) and Yvo de Boer (Netherlands), met several times. On
Wednesday, 4 November, the group discussed the preparation of a
comprehensive work programme on flexibility mechanisms. The EU
and agroup of Annex | Parties, including Australia, Canada, Iceland,
New Zealand, Norway, the Russian Federation and the US ("Umbrella
Group") distributed draft decisions and discussion documents. Other
Parties, including the G-77/CHINA, called for moretimeto consider
the volume of documentation. Several developing country Parties
supported addressing awider range of issuesrelated to the flexibility
mechanisms, including technology transfer, adverse impacts, method-
ologies, reporting and compliance. Two small island States supported a



Voal. 12 No. 97 Page 9

Monday, 16 November 1998

package of 11 themesfor the work programme. The Co-Chairsdistrib-
uted a"dummy" Draft Work Programme on Mechanismsand
conducted informal consultations.

On Friday, 6 November, the G-77/CHINA stressed the need for a
clear section in the work programme devoted to the nature and scope
of the mechanismsto facilitate comparison. He added that the mecha-
nisms should not exacerbate the economic disadvantage of countries
and called for the CDM to be discussed on apriority basis.
HONDURAS, supported by several Latin American countries, called
for expeditious creation of the CDM, and proposed an "interim phase
approach" to develop guidelines and rules. The US stressed parall el
progress on al mechanisms. The EU preferred ageneral, rather than a
detailed, debate. NEW ZEAL AND stressed the importance of devel-
oping atimelinefor discussion. Several Parties expressed concern
about the length of the draft work programme. SWITZERLAND
provided the Co-Chairswith atwo-pagework programme. The contact
group met on Saturday to continue discussion on thework programme,
with amuch-shortened version prepared by the Co-Chairsthat
included the Honduran "interim phase" proposal. After some discus-
sion, the Chairs acknowledged differencesin views among the Parties,
but said the views were not incompatible.

On Monday, 9 November, the G-77/CHINA submitted a proposed
work programme containing an extensivelist of issues, embodying a
"step-by-step” approach and prioritizing the CDM. In response, the
US, supported by CANADA and AUSTRALIA, suggested the contact
group address four questions: what type of decision should be made,
when, by whom, and how it should move forward. He added that there
weretwo options: negotiate theitemsin thetext or keep thelist of
items open. The EU said the G-77/Chinadraft programme lacked,
inter alia, aclear timeline, deadlines and allocation of work to
different bodies. They rejected the prioritization of work, calling for
parallel development of all three mechanisms. The Co-Chairsintro-
duced adraft decision on mechanisms, taking into consideration the
views expressed in the group, admitting that it was outside their
mandate. AUSTRALIA said theissues settled at Kyoto should not be
re-opened.

On Tuesday, 10 November, draft work programmeswere
submitted by AUSTRALIA (on behalf of CANADA, ICELAND,
NEW ZEALAND, NORWAY, the RUSSIAN FEDERATION and the
US), JAPAN, SWITZERLAND and the Co-Chairs. After extensive
deliberations, Co-Chair de Boer suggested that thetitle of the work
programmeincludeafootnote stating "the existence of elementsin this
listiswithout prejudiceto inclusion of theseitemsin the rules, modali-
ties and guidelines devel oped for these mechanisms.” The discussion
on principleswould be limited to the "application of existing princi-
ples' and thereferencesto FCCC Articles4.8 and 4.9 (adverse effects)
would be deleted. At therequest of G-77/CHINA, the Parties recon-
vened later to discuss the draft as amended by the Co-Chairs. SAUDI
ARABIA, with QATAR, saidit would support the Co-Chairs amended
text, if FCCC Articles 4.8 and 4.9 (adverse impacts) were included.
UGANDA said all thereferencesto FCCC Articles 4.8 and 4.9 should
be deleted, since they were under deliberation el sewhere.

Delegates convened ajoint SBI/SBSTA plenary inthe early
morning hours of Wednesday, 11 November. The contact group Co-
Chairsreported that there was no agreement on adraft work
programme. AUSTRALIA and other Annex | Parties, aswell asthe
EU, put forward the documents they had produced for the contact
group. The SBI/SBSTA Co-Chairsdistributed their own draft decision
on thework programme on mechanisms. The G-77/CHINA urged
discussion of the contact group Co-Chairs' draft, with CHINA
opposing the use of other documents. SOUTH AFRICA and
UGANDA rejected the G-77/CHINA position, saying they were
unaware the group had discussed the new proposal. With the US, EU,
CANADA, JAPAN, KUWAIT and AUSTRALIA, the AFRICAN
GROUP favored bracketing the new Co-Chairs draft entirely. VENE-
ZUELA said forwarding the Co-Chairs’ text would require formula-

tion of ajoint subsidiary bodies position. KUWAIT suggested the
draft decision of the SBSTA/SBI Co-Chairs be forwarded to the COP
asaChair'stext. Co-Chair Kante suggested forwarding both textsto
the plenary: the draft work plan proposed by the contact group Co-
Chairsand the draft decision proposed by the SBSTA/SBI Co-Chairs.
Delegates agreed, but it remained uncertain which of the textswould
be bracketed. The session concluded at 4:10 am.

Later that day, SBI/SBSTA Co-Chair Chow informed the COP
plenary that a decision had been reached on the flexibility mechanisms
and two draft textswould be forwarded to the COP (FCCC/CP/1998/
MISC.7 and Add.1).

During thefinal plenary on Saturday, 14 November, the COP
adopted adecision that included awork programme on mechanisms
(FCCCICP/1998/L.21). The decision contained several elements, inter
alia: prioritization of the CDM; afinal decision on Protocol Articles6
(emission reduction units), 12 (clean devel opment mechanism) and 17
(emissionstrading) at COP-6; and arequest to the Secretariat to
prepare aplan for facilitating capacity building for developing country
Parties, especially for the small island States and the | east devel oped
countries, to participateinthe CDM.

Thework programme contained alist of issuesto be discussed
under four categories: General; CDM; Article 6 projects; and Article
17 — emissions trading between Parties included in Annex B. In the
general section, elements included: application of relevant principles;
capacity building; adaptation; compliance; inapplicability of Article
4.8 and 4.9 of the Convention and/or Article 2.3 and 3.14 of the Kyoto
Protocol to the mechanisms; application of any quantification of
“supplemental to domestic actions” to each State within a regional
economic integration organization; and linkagpetsr alia, inter-
changeability. In the section on the CDM, reference was made to trans
parency, non-discrimination and prevention of distortion of
competition; supplementarity to domestic actions for achieving
compliance with reduction commitments under Protocol Article 3
(concrete ceiling defined in quantitative and qualitative terms based on
equitable criteria; fungibility among mechanisms; inclusion of sink
projects; and credit (starting from 2000) for qualifying projects begun
before CDM rules become effective. Under Article 6 and Article 17,
the elements to be discussed include: lack of authority to elaborate
“supplemental to domestic actions” and the inadvisability of doing so;
and lack of authority to establish a charge for adaptation. On Article 17
references were made to the basis for and determination of rights and
entitlements for emissions trading of Parties included in Annex B; hot
air; interchangeability and assigned amounts as a basis for emissions
trading.

ACTIVITIESIMPLEMENTED JOINTLY: On Tuesday, 3
November, a joint SBI/SBSTA plenary session considered the status of
the AlJ pilot phase. The Secretariat provided a report on the 95
projects, the main methodological issues, and subjects that arose in
workshops on this topic (FCCC/CP/1998/2, FCCC/CP/1998/INF.3,
FCCC/CP/1998/MISC.7 and FCCC/CP/1998/MISC.7/Add.1).

The G-77/CHINA, supported by several developing countries,
observed that AlJ is separate from the mechanisms arising from the
Protocol. He said while the number of projects had increased, repre-
sentation was poor. He stated that there were insufficient details to
draw conclusions and the pilot phase should be extended. Most non-
Annex | Parties have not experienced and evaluated an AlJ project
within their own country. Several Parties observed that further experi-
ence and capacity building would lay the groundwork for Protocol
mechanisms.

SWITZERLAND, with NORWAY, JAPAN, SLOVENIA, the EU,
the US, AUSTRALIA and COLOMBIA, contended that the AlJ pilot
phase provides lessons for the flexibility mechanisms. A review of the
AlJ pilot phase for COP-5 would support the development of this
work. POLAND observed that a review of the process could explain
why some countries were excluded and resolve some of the concerns
of the G-77/CHINA.



Monday, 16 November 1998

Voal. 12 No. 97 Page 10

CorneliaQuennet-Thielen (Germany) chaired informal consulta-
tions on theissue and presented adraft decision (FCCC/SB/1998/
CRP3J) inajoint SBI/SBSTA plenary on Tuesday, 10 November. The
G-77/CHINA opposed text on crediting for AlJ pilot phase projects
and proposed an amendment on continuing the AlJ pilot phase,
focusing on devel oping countries. The USand SLOV ENIA opposed
the change, noting it excluded certain groups of Parties. AUSTRALIA
said incentiveswere needed for the private sector. The draft decision
wasforwarded to the COP plenary.

During thefinal plenary, the draft decision on AlJwas adopted
without discussion (FCCC/CP/1998/L.20). The decision continuesthe
AlJpilot phase, invites Partiesto make submissions on projectsand
begins a process of review to enable adecision to be made by theend
of the present decade.

PREPARATIONSFOR COP/MOP-1: On Thursday, 5
November, the SBI and SBSTA discussed preparationsfor the first
session of the Conference of Parties serving asthe Meeting of the
Partiesto the Protocol (COP/MOP-1). The Chairsintroduced their
draft decision (FCCC/CP/1998/3) and invited comment. SAUDI
ARABIA said preparationswere needed for all Protocol articles, not
just theflexibility mechanisms. He stressed that Protocol Articles3.14
and 2.3 (adverse effects) had not been adequately addressed. He
suggested convening aseparate contact group, discussing theissuesin
the contact group on FCCC Articles 4.8 and 4.9 or in the one on flexi-
bility mechanisms. VENEZUELA, BANGLADESH, the UNITED
ARAB EMIRATES, IRAN, SYRIA, KUWAIT, LEBANON,
NIGERIA, THE GAMBIA, ECUADOR, ALGERIA, MOROCCO
and INDONESIA supported SAUDI ARABIA.

SWITZERLAND supported the draft decision, but suggested
amendmentsto the timeframe and scope of work. The US proposed
amending the decision to reflect the differing legal status of the
Convention and the Protocol. The EU, supported by MONACO, noted
the need to specify waysto facilitate cooperation and stressed coordi-
nation of IPCC and FCCC activitiesthrough ajoint working group. He
proposed establishing acompliance mechanism and scheduling a
meeting for early 1999. JAPAN noted the need for timefor consulta-
tion and difficultiesin combining ongoing work under the FCCC and
the Protocol. He opposed deadlines for setting compliance procedures
until the mechanismswere elaborated. CANADA called for abalance
between the Convention and the Protocol and said Protocol issues
needed attention to expedite ratification.

The Chair said Protocol Articles2.3 and 3.14 werewithinthe scope
of work of the contact group on FCCC Articles4.8 and 4.9 (adverse
impacts). The contact group would determine its own agenda.
KUWAIT, NIGERIA and SAUDI ARABIA sought aclear mandate for
the contact group to consider Articles2.3and 3.14. TheUS, JAPAN
and AUSTRALIA said Decision 3/CP.3, which specified the mandate
of the contact group, did not require specific consideration of Articles
2.3 and 3.14. The EU said the issue merited discussion, but it was
unnecessary to highlight specific articles.

The Chair said no separate contact groups would be established.
SAUDI ARABIA called for awork plan and timelineon Article 3.14
for COP/MOP 1, and said progress on Article 3.14 should follow an
approach similar to Protocol Articles6, 12 and 17 (flexibility mecha-
nisms). The Chair indicated that no work plan or timetable for any of
the articlesin question would be devel oped, but these itemswould be
explored because they arelinked.

MAURITANIA and the Co-Chairs proposed a draft decision
urging Parties to sign and ratify the Kyoto Protocol. JAPAN recalled
that the draft decision on Article 4.2(a) and (b) contained a bracketec
sentence urging Parties to ratify. The US said it was not in a position
urge ratification and suggested postponing the decision. The draft
decision was forwarded to the COP.

The draft decision on the preparations for COP/MOP-1 was
accepted with two minor changes to the annexes (FCCC/CP/1998/
L.19). The decision focuses on a work plan that includes allocation o
preparatory work between the subsidiary bodies and a list of tasks
assigned to Conference of the Parties serving as the Meeting of the
Parties.

PRESIDENTIAL CEREMONY

The Presidential Ceremony was held on Wednesday, 11 Novemb
On behalf of UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan, Nitin Desai, Under-
Secretary-General for Economic and Social Affairs, said the Kyoto
Protocol offered a sustainable path for industrialized countries and
demonstrated shared stewardship for the planet. He underscored th
need for early ratification of the Protocol and action on issues
including technology transfer, domestic measures and scientific
research. He called for a new deadline to maintain momentum and
pledged UN support.

Carlos Menem, President of Argentina, said the Protocol had bee
approved by the Senate of Argentina and was under consideration ir
the lower house. He emphasized a clean growth strategy. At COP-5,
Argentina will make a commitment to lower emissions for the period
2008 to 2012. Countries were to be permitted, he said, "to find a new
way under the Convention."

Delegates heard reports from the Chairs of SBl and SBSTA on
decisions adopted and outstanding issues. The COP-4 President
proposed to convene a group of “friends of the president” at the mini:
terial level to address the outstanding issues from the SBI and SBST
Executive Secretary Michael Zammit Cutajar informed delegates tha
Jordan had offered to host COP-5. He said a final decision had not be
reached because financial matters were under discussion.

TURKEY said it had presented the FCCC to Parliament for ratifi-
cation. However, its Annex | and 1l status did not conform to the
country's economic circumstances. She requested resolution of this
issue at COP-5. LIBYA expressed hope that the international commt
nity would prevent adverse economic impacts from response
measures. Sanctions that violate international agreements have
impeded environmental improvements to oil production facilities.

Delegates heard statements from the following intergovernments
organizations: the World Meteorological Organization; the United
Nations Industrial Development Organization; the United Nations
Development Programme; the United Nations Environment
Programme; Parlamento Latinoamericano; the World Bank;
UNESCO; IPCC; the Latin American Energy Organization; OECD;
and the International Energy Agency.

Non-governmental organizations (NGOs) addressing the COP
were: Foro del Buen Ayre; Global Legislators Organization for a
Balanced Environment; the International Confederation of Free Trad
Unions; the International Chamber of Commerce; the World Busines
Council for Sustainable Development; the International Council for
Local Environmental Initiatives; the Argentine Mayors' Environ-
mental Forum; Klima-Biindnis (Climate Alliance); Climate Action

Espen Renneberg (Marshall Islands) chaired informal consultaNetwork — Latin America; IUCN; the Business Council for Sustain-
tions and reported on Tuesday, 10 November, that no progress wadble Energy; the European Business Council for a Sustainable Ener

made due to time constraints. He offered an informal paper with anFuture; Climate Network — Europe; and Franciscans International.
annex containing an initial list of work. Co-Chair Chow suggested

further deliberations. SAUDI ARABIA said he would accept this on

the condition that the issue of Protocol Articles 4.8 and 4.9 (adverse

effects) be resolved at COP-4. The Co-Chairs forwarded the paper to

the COP.



Vol. 12 No. 97 Page 11 e Earth Negotiations Bulletin Monday, 16 November 1998

HIGH-LEVEL SEGMENT erations. NORWAY recognized the role of industry in technology

The High-L evel Segment was held on Thursday, 12 November. transfer. The NETHERLANDS highlighted the need for increased
The ministers presented overviews of domestic actions on climate financial flows to the most vulnerable countries.
change and called for enhanced progress at the COP to ensure ratifica- The UK and GHANA said scientific uncertainty should not be used
tion of the Kyoto Protocol. They expressed their sympathy for the as an excuse for inaction. DENMARK called for a Buenos Aires deal
victimsof Hurricane Mitch. FRANCE announced the cancellationof ~ that calls upon developed countries to commit themselves to provide
Honduras’ and Nicaragua'’s debt. additional funds to developing countries and address their obligations

Argentine President Carlos Menem said that at COP-5 Argentiriénder the FCCC and the Protocol. In return, developing countries must
will make a commitment to lower emissions for the period 2008 to agree to work out the necessary national strategies to allow for a
2012. Countries were to be permitted, he said, “to find a new way constructive review process. AOSIS called for a clear and ambitious
under the Convention.” KAZAKSTAN expressed willingnessto  timetable to elaborate the Protocol. The G-77/CHINA said their partic-
undertake obligations and enter into Annex B of the Kyoto Protocoipation in mitigating climate change depends on the effective imple-
through Annex | of the FCCC. NEW ZEALAND, the RUSSIAN mentation of developed country Party commitments in the field of
FEDERATION and the US supported the Argentine voluntary technology transfer and financial resources. JAPAN and the EU
commitment. With the US and HUNGARY, AUSTRALIA called for stressed the need to maintain the momentum of Kyoto, and with
meaningful participation and future voluntary commitments appro-FINLAND, called for the creation of a clear and efficient work plan
priate to individual circumstances and with QATAR, NORWAY, giving priority to developing country concerns. LATVIA supported
PERU and SENEGAL stressed the principle of common but differefite EU proposal for a Buenos Aires work plan.
ated responsibilities. GHANA said the challenges of climate change mitigation and

AOSIS noted the inadequacy of the commitments and efforts toadaptation present an additional burden to developing countries and
implement them under the Protocol and the FCCC. He said the Arguith the CARICOM States, ICELAND, AUSTRALIA, the US,
tine voluntary commitment must not be allowed to detract from the SAUDI ARABIA, NEW ZEALAND and the G-77/CHINA, called for
commitments of Parties in the Protocol. CUBA, QATAR and SAUDEelaboration of mechanisms under the Kyoto Protocol. The CENTRAL
ARABIA opposed any attempt to compel developing countries to tskdERICAN STATES stressed the importance of sinks and supported
on “voluntary commitments.” The REPUBLIC OF KOREA recog- the G-77/China proposal to prioritize the CDM and operationalize it by
nized that voluntary commitments was a sensitive issue, but there 1 January 2000. With CHILE, he proposed an interim phase of the
would be a need for global participation over time. BOLIVIA stressééPM. IRELAND supported the EU call for clear qualitative and quan-
that substantive participation of non-Annex | Parties should be basétive ceilings on the use of the flexibility mechanisms. The COOK
on the principle of sovereignty and right to self-determination and tHatANDS, MARSHALL ISLANDS, NAURU, NIUE, TUVALU,
their emissions limits cannot constitute a precedent nor commit othdk$SERIA and the CARICOM States expressed concern that the flexi-
to emissions limitation targets. MALAY SIA expressed regret over thdity mechanisms are a way of avoiding domestic responsibility.
continued discussion on voluntary commitments. ETHIOPIA said THAILAND said the CDM should not be the sole means of technology
pressure for voluntary commitments would undermine the FCCC transfer.
process. The SEYCHELLES expressed concern that vulnerable nations that

The US, THAILAND, PERU and TUVALU announced their are insignificant on the global stage may be excluded from
signature to the Kyoto Protocol. TRINIDAD and TOBAGO, on behgifogrammes such as those under the flexibility mechanisms. THAI-
of CARICOM and HAITI, said BAHAMAS will sign the Protocol thisL,AND supported North-South and South-South partnerships based on
week. MICRONESIA, ITALY, CHILE, LITHUANIA, CYPRUS and equity and the principle of common but differentiated responsibility.
the SOLOMON ISLANDS stated that they were in the process of ré8iPAIN called for progress on developing a process of technology
fying the Protocol. JAPAN and SLOVENIA called for the early transfer and efforts to address the issue of public awareness and educ
signing and ratification of the Protocol. KAZAKSTAN expressed wilion. FRANCE called for a common approach to collective measures
ingness to undertake obligations and enter into Annex B of the Kyocaaid said mechanisms should be based on a reliable system of compli-

Protocol through Annex | of the FCCC. ance that includes sanctions. CROATIA said the flexibility mecha-
A number of speakers, including the EU, THE GAMBIA, JAPAN)isms must be equitable, i.e., open, transparent, verifiable and non-
SWEDEN, SYRIA, CROATIA, NEW ZEALAND, RUSSIAN discriminatory. EGYPT emphasized the equal treatment of the three

FEDERATION, EGYPT, NEPAL, SPAIN, GHANA and the G-77/  flexibility mechanisms and suggested that part of the proceeds from
CHINA, stressed that: active leadership to prevent global warmingthese mechanisms be mobilized to finance the transfer of adaptation
must come from developed country Parties; domestic action must technology for developing countries. BRAZIL underscored the CDM
provide the main means for meeting commitments to combat clima® & means of inducing new and mostly private investment, and
change; and flexibility mechanisms were supplemental and their usélggested that it be project-based and include all countries. CANADA
must be subject to strict rules of accountability and compliance. PE#@gCribed the CDM as a “win-win-win mechanism,” i.e., win for the
said the inaction of developed countries sends dangerous signals @1vironment, win for sustainable development and win for the devel-
non-Annex | countries. NORWAY said developed countries must 0ped countries, as they would be able to meet the Kyoto Protocol
accept even more ambitious targets in the future. Recognizing the targets. VENEZUELA said CDM projects must ensure net contribu-

vulnerability of small island States, NEW ZEALAND called for tion to sustainable development in the host country, avoid hidden
support to AOSIS. costs, and use project-based rather than sectoral or national baselines

FRANCE noted that developing country emissions are increasiffy@void future imposition of targets. . . .
and called for timely provision of financial support and technology ~ ARGENTINA said emissions trading was an innovative solution to
transfer. With ECUADOR, FINLAND, the CARICOM States, THE market failure. POLAND called for final decisions on the mechanisms
GAMBIA, VENEZUELA, CHINA, ECUADOR, BENIN, at COP-5 and proposed a pilot phase for emissions trading. The
TANZANIA and UGANDA, he highlighted the need for additional REPUBLIC OF KOREA opposed any limits on the CDM. MEXICO
financial support, sustained transfer of information and technologystressed open criteria and a progressive approach to the CDM that
capacity building and institutional strengthening. SUDAN stressedcould foster immediate and simple actions without artificial limits, not

technology transfer irrespective of political relations or racial consi§ontained in the Protocol. BOTSWANA emphasized the role of the
CDM in assisting developing countries and urged progress on elabo-

rating this mechanism. MOROCCO said the imbalance of projects



Monday, 16 November 1998 e Earth NegotiationsBulletin Voal. 12 No. 97 Page 12

under the AlJ pilot phase wasinequitable and ZIMBABWE recom- CLOSING PLENARY

mended itsextension. MALAY SIA called for the incorporation of The final plenary of COP-4, originally scheduled for 3:00 pm on
technology transfer and the financial mechanism into the Protocol Friday, 13 November, did not begin until 6:00 am on Saturday, 14
mechanisms. November. In the interim hours, selected delegates retreated into
GREECE supported agreement on clear principles, modalities, closed high-level negotiations, informal consultations, regional meet
rules and guidelinesfor the flexibility mechanisms, including ceilings  ings and “friends of the President” sessions. Many delegates remain
on their use. SOUTH AFRICA supported development of aclear in the plenary hall and corridors waiting for indications of progress an
programme of work, establishment of anintersessional workinggroup commencement of the final plenary.
and atimeframe to ensure the Kyoto targets are met. UKRAINE Once the plenary finally began, the COP-4 President called on
stressed establishment of awork programme for implementation of Parties to adopt a draft resolution expressing solidarity with Central
Kyoto obligationsby Annex | Parties. He said revival intransition America in light of the recent tragedy (FCCC/CP/1998/L.17). NICA-
economieswill lead to inevitableincreasesin GHG emissions, but RAGUA thanked the Parties for their support and noted that the regic
these countries will achieve internal reductions. He opposed the “reult require continued support. President Alsogaray announced the
sion” of decisions taken at Kyoto. receipt of national communications from Armenia, Kazakstan and
Several Parties, including DENMARK, VENEZUELA, Indonesia and the signature of the Kyoto Protocol by the US. The tot

POLAND, AUSTRALIA, FRANCE, the EU and the US, called for theumber of signatories currently stands at 60.

establishment of a coherent, effective and strong compliance system.On the adoption of rules of procedure, she informed the meeting

The G-77/CHINA called for a decision on compliance at COP-4. that no progress had been made on the issue and the draft rules (FC

GERMANY suggested a ceiling for mechanisms and, with FRANCEP/1996/2) will continue to apply as before. Regarding election of

supported the inclusion of sanctions in the compliance system.  officers, consultations held by the Chairs of the subsidiary bodies wit
The RUSSIAN FEDERATION opposed attempts to qualify its the regional groups resulted in the nomination of the Central African

emissions reductions as “hot air,” since they compensate for emissidggublic as Vice Chair of SBSTA and Switzerland as Vice Chair of

increases of other countries, and have been paid for by a decline ifSBlI, to be followed by Iran.

living standards. BRAZIL and KENYA called for further discussions  JORDAN reconfirmed its offer to host COP-5 and said it had

on the adverse impacts of climate change. Supported by MEXICO already begun negotiations with the Secretariat on arrangements. H

BHUTAN and ICELAND, COLOMBIA called attention to sinks requested the President to ask the Executive Secretary to continue

under the Protocol and underscored the elaboration of methodologiéstussions with Jordan with a view to reaching a decision by 11

ICELAND underscored the proportional impact of single projects oDecember. The proposal was accepted.

small economies. Delegates adopted ten decisions on outstanding issues. They als
With BENIN and ZIMBABWE, CHINA cautioned againstthe  adopted a “Plan of Action,” under which Parties declared their deter-
COP losing focus on the Convention. He opposed the argument thaiiaation to strengthen the implementation of the Convention and
global problem demands a global response and rejected emissiongrepare for the future entry into force of the Kyoto Protocol. The Plan
reduction or limitation conditions. SWEDEN urged delegates to woglontains the Parties’ resolution to demonstrate substantial progress
to increase awareness, understanding and support for change andawdtrding to the timeframes within the decisions on: the financial
FINLAND, applauded the role of NGOs in the environmental agenaaechanism; the development and transfer of technology; the imple-
VENEZUELA cautioned against allowing distractions from the maimentation of FCCC Articles 4.8 and 4.9, as well as Protocol Articles
issues by discussing items not on the COP-4 agenda. ECUADOR 2.3 and 3.14; AlJ; the mechanisms of the Kyoto Protocol; and the pre
supported closer coordination with other UN Conventions, particulagibation for COP/MOP-1 (FCCC/CP/1998/L.23). The President indi-
the Convention on Biological Diversity. NEPAL stressed regional cated that the decision would convey a sense of coherence and balat

environmental cooperation and opposed undue limits on energy COP Rapporteur Maciej Sadowski (POLAND) introduced the
consumption. report of the COP (FCCC/CP/1998/L.6 and Add.1). It was adopted
KENYA called for GEF support in facilitating the CDM and implawithout amendment.
menting adaptation measures. THE GAMBIA called for membership sw|TZERLAND commented on the process of reaching these
of the Multilateral Consultative Committee and participation in the decisions. He said there was a significant lack of transparency in the
CDM on an equitable geographical basis. SENEGAL said the debtmanner in which the extended Bureau was set up. He remarked that
burden was a serious hindrance to sustainable development and thgthough small working groups were necessary, the process of delec
marginalization of Africa made equity a particular concern. INDIA tjon to the working groups should be transparent and democratic. He
stressed the distinction between luxury and survival emissions.  stated there must have a clear mandate from the plenary. He called
ZAMBIA said climate change programmes should be linkedto  ypon the Bureau and the Secretariat to draft a proposal to elaborate
poverty eradication. Recognizing that the lack of multilateral open and interactive mechanism for establishing working groups.
financing constitutes a major obstacle to implementing the Conventiontio Eccc Executive Secretary referred to the Swiss statement a
and noting the slow and complex process to access GEF funds, jeys expressed to him from environmental NGOs concerning the
DJIBOUTI supported the establishment of an independent flnancwitwe of negotiations. He indicated that he wanted the process to be
mechanism to finance the CDM for poor countries. inclusive and promised to work on the issue. He also stated that the
BURUNDI underscored the need for improved access to techn@op produced a solid plan of action and firm deadlines that will

logical information and knowledge and capacity building, especiallyenerate results over the next two years. COP-4 came to a close at €
for African delegates participating in the climate change process. am on Saturday, 14 November 1998.

COTE D'IVOIRE stated that the CDM should not be a substitute for
official development assistance or support from the GEF. SWITZER-
LAND called for coordination between various international environ-
mental agreements, particularly the Montreal and Kyoto Protocols.
PARAGUAY highlighted its interest in the potential of the flexibility
mechanisms.



Vol. 12 No. 97 Page 13 e Earth Negotiations Bulletin Monday, 16 November 1998

A BRIEF ANALYSISOF COP-4 With Argentine President Carlos Menem’s announcement, during
the second week of the COP, that Argentina would undertake a volun-

SOMETHING FOR EVERYONE IN BUENOSAIRES tary commitment to abate its GHG emissions at COP-5, the host
country took a further step towards meeting Washington’s require-

Two distant, but intimately related, events during the Fourth ments. At a press briefing Wednesday evening, Eizenstat called Presi-
Conference of the Partiesin Buenos Aires, resulting in the Buenos dent Menem’s decision “historic” and signaled that Argentina’s
AiresPlan of Action, will color the memories of most participantsand  ;ndertaking to assume a voluntary commitment at COP-5 constituted
observers. Thefirst wasthe much anticipated decision by the host the kind of “meaningful participation” by a developing country that is

country to break rankswith most of itspartnersinthe G-77/Chinaand - 4 precondition for US ratification of the Protocol. Most significantly,
signal itswillingnessto undertakeabinding commitment & COP-510  perhaps, Eizenstat echoed President Menem’s view that “new path-
abateits greenhouse gas emissions. The second event followedless — \yays”t0 allow developing countries to become full partners will have
than 24 hours later in New York with the United States’ signing of thg pe found. One NGO observer suggested Argentina’s decision was
Kyoto Protocol. The moves in Buenos Aires and New York displaygge most significant development on voluntary commitments because
all the choreography of a well executed tango with their timely cues; opened up the prospect of a new negotiation process to allow a devel
and dramatic impact. . oping country to accept binding commitments. It is understood that
The United States and Argentina stole the show at a Conferencgobody, including the Argentine government, has worked out the exact
marked by an apparent lack of ambition from the outset, with its fogHgdalities or even the general framework for this groundbreaking
on the production of a work plan to elaborate the provisions of the procedure.
Kyoto Protocol and pursue the implementation of the UNFCCC. The 1pe Argentine announcement immediately fed speculation about
key outcomes were determined during the final day of informal neggl pjans and within 24 hours the US signed the Kyoto Protocol in
ations overseen by the COP President, Maria Julia Alsogaray, Secfgsy York. The significance of the timing is best observed in the
tary of Natural Resources and Sustainable Development of Argentiggharks of US Senator Chuck Hagel following the US decision. He
Most countries were reduced to the role of onlookers sometimes  g5ig: “|n signing the Kyoto Protocol, the President blatantly contra-
locked out of informal meetings, a situation which provoked a rebuigg:is the will of the US Senate. The Byrd-Hagel Resolution, which
by a Swiss delegation during the closing COP Plenary. Complainingassed 95-0 in the Senate last year, was very clear and bipartisan. It
about the lack of transparency, the Swiss delegate asked the Secrelghgtitly stated that ‘the United States should not be a signatory to any
to ensure that there would be no repetition of the lock-out at future ygt0col’ that excludes developing countries from legally binding
meetings. Much of the negotiation conducted before the arrival of commitments or that causes serious harm to the US economy.” Argu-
ministers in the second week turned out to be little more than a dreggy, president Bill Clinton believes that the Argentine development
rehearsal for the political decision making during the sometimes 55 hegun to dismantle his opponents’ argument that developing coun
heated high-level exchanges. Some suggested that the President,i¥s are excluded from legally binding commitments. At the close of
failing to seek and accept advice on issues, was ill prepared to copeop.4, Stuart Eizenstat hinted that further announcements of devel-
with some of the complex dynamics of negotiations within the UN oping country commitments can be expected. When asked to identify
system. o o . ~_ Parties who might assume voluntary commitments, he said the small
This analysis will confine itself to a brief survey of the significanggtand States of Niue and Nauru had expressed interest in a greater
of the Argentina and US initiatives and an assessment of how the |evel of engagement with the climate change regime. At the close of
debate on the work programme became and was always destined fRe COP, President Alsogaray reported that countries from both Latin
become more than an exercise in setting important deadlines.  America and Africa had also expressed interest in Argentina’s
At the meeting of the subsidiary bodies in Bonn in June, the Paréipproach.

to the UNFCCC experienced a distinct loss of momentum asthey  The COP President’s determination to facilitate informal consulta-
stumbled over debates about priorities for the COP-4 agenda. A tions on the issue of developing country commitments in the face of
number of key issues up for discussion generated divergent views stiff opposition from within her country group (G-77/China) demon-
around their meaning and significance, not least a debate on the tregted a single mindedness that attracted much criticism. Argentina’s
ment of UNFCCC Articles 4.2 (a) and (b) on the review of the ambition is linked, in part, to its candidature for membership of the
adequacy of commitments. Some of the flattening in momentum WaECD and close links between Presidents Menem and Clinton. In pre-
also attributed to Decision 1/CP.3 from COP-3, which failed to proviggoto bilateral negotiations, both men addressed Joint Implementa-
clear guidance on what “must” be accomplished in Buenos Aires. tjon and credits. As the host country and close US ally, Argentina was
Given this background it was probable that the hopes of some NG@grfectly situated to break from the ranks of the G-77/China and both
and Parties that substantive work would begin on elaborating princiacilitate and accelerate an evolution in the UNFCCC process, which

ples for the operation of the "Kyoto Mechanisms" of the Protocol  has been paralleled by growing interest in the developing world in the
would be set back. CDM.

~ ITTAKESTWO TO TANGO: The United States’ decision to One of the architects of the Kyoto Protocol has suggested that the
sign the Kyoto Protocol after Argentina stepped out from the ranks|ghguage of "voluntary commitments" may not survive because the
the G-77/China to take on a binding commitment must be seen in th@minology has become has become tainted by the contentious debat
context of one of the first debates of COP-4 — one that touched on Between the Umbrella Group (\]apan, US, Switzerland, Canada,
fault line running through the entire UNFCCC since 1995 when the@stra”a, Norway and New Zealand (JUSSCANNZ) and Rugsia) and
77/China was fractured by a decision to establish the Berlin Mandq}% G-77/China over deve|0ping country commitments. “Vo|untary
As expected, despite overwhelming opposition at the subsidiary commitments” remains a source of profound and polluting suspicion
bodies meetings and a pre-COP meeting, Argentina placed an itemffiin the process. In much the same way as the loaded language of
voluntary commitments for developing countries on the provisionakflexible mechanisms" has given way to the term, "Kyoto Mecha-
agenda. COP President Maria Julia Alsogaray responded to G-77/nisms," observers believe that the term "voluntary commitments" may
China opposition by striking the item off the agenda and suggestingiisappear from the discourse of the climate change regime to be re-cas
that informal consultations between interested countries proceed. |h more acceptab|e |anguage_ Some countries, such as Indonesia and
was later reported that such discussions between Annex | and nonthe Republic of Korea, displayed more willingness to contemplate new
Annex | countries had taken place. The United States led the supp@gmmitments before the United States and JUSSCANNZ transformed
for informal consultations. the issue into eause celebre.,



Monday, 16 November 1998 e Earth NegotiationsBulletin Voal. 12 No. 97 Page 14

GREAT EXPECTATIONS: Therewas an expectation in some Speaking at COP-3, UNFCCC Executive Secretary Michael
quartersthat COP-4 would be arelatively straightforward, business- Zammit Cutajar said the key test for Kyoto Protocol process would b
like meeting where some of the principal decisionswould benomore  its ability to send a powerful economic signal to policy makers and th
contentiousthan setting tight deadlinesfor awork programme, notably  markets. Regular ministerial engagement with the process suggests
for the elaboration of the"Kyoto Mechanisms." One EU participant that the political signal is gaining strength. Industry representatives ¢
commented: “In retrospect the COP should not have been about COP-4 reported that there is evidence, too, that the economic signal
winning things, but about getting on with the job.” For a number of penetrating new business and industry constituencies who are
reasons this was not to be. The attempt by Argentina to place voluntasponding with greater pragmatism and increasing interest in identi
commitments for developing countries on the COP-4 agenda on ddying business opportunities. In the final analysis, the significance of
one set a tone of suspicion at the outset. Developing countries raistiils meeting may not lie in the specifics of the Buenos Aires Plan of
their guard against any hint of new obligations or associated conditfariion but in the fact that despite their vastly differing positions dele-
alities. This contributed to the deadlock in the debate on the reviewgates remained committed to restoring the momentum of the proces
the adequacy of UNFCCC commitments (Articles 4.2 (a) and (b)), by embracing the discipline of selfimposed deadlines.
forcing a postponement of the issue. The G-77/China continues to
view the inadequacy of commitments in terms of the poor performance THINGSTO LOOK FOR
of Annex-I Parties, while developed country Parties insist that the o ]
problem is a lack of global participation, particularly by key devel- ~ FCCC SUBSIDIARY BODIES: The FCCC Subsidiary Bodies
oping countries such as China and Brazil. Moreover, the nature of ##l meet from 31 May — 11 June 1999 in Bonn, Germany. Jordan ha:
COP-4 agenda presented a compelling opportunity for the G-77/CIgisaressed an interest in hosting COP-5, which will be held from 25
to maximize its leverage to secure concessions, notably within the October — 5 November 1999. For more information contact the FCCt
UNFCCC-related agenda items such as technology transfer, finan&ecretariat; tel: +49-228-815-1000; fax: +49-228-815-1999; e-mail:
and capacity building and by creatinguad pro quo between these secretariat@unfccc.de; Internet: http://www.unfccc.de.
issues and its cooperation on the work plan for the elaboration of the INDUSTRIAL COOPERATION, MARKETING, INNOVA-

Kyoto Mechanisms. This, in part, resulted in a round of "hostage TION AND BUSINESSOPPORTUNITIESFOR RENEWABLE
taking" at the final session of the SBI when Parties withheld suppoENERGY: This seminar will meet from 22-28 November 1998 in

for a number of key elements in draft decisions and exchanged  Brighton, UK. Itis sponsored by the Commonwealth Science Counci
brackets. The imminent arrival of ministers further contributed to thelsevier Science Ltd., Overseas Development Organization,

drive to hold back on agreements. The linkages between the demaddi=SCO, the World Energy Council, and the World Renewable

by the G-77/China for financial and technical assistance, associatddnergy Network and will examine the role of renewable energy

with a desire to remain free of any attempt by developed countries systems in meeting the world energy demand for electricity. For mor:
build in conditionalities that might draw them into new commitment&formation contact: A.A.M. Sayigh, Director General of World

led to unusually complex linkages. Right up to the closing hours of Renewable Energy Network; tel: +44 1189 611364; fax: +44 1189
negotiations on Saturday morning, for example, there were long ar@l1365; e-mail: asayigh@netcomuk.co.uk.

difficult exchanges on what turned out to be a win for the G-77/China CLIMATE CHANGE IN THE INTRA-AMERICAS:

on GEF funding. The debate about adverse impacts and compensstiobhNERABILITY, ADAPTATION, AND MITIGATION

(Articles 4.8 and 4.9) also became tied up in the package. The OPESONFERENCE: The Organization of American States will co-
countries tried and failed to link Articles 4.8 and 4.9 and associatedsponsor the international conference "Climate Change in the Intra-
Kyoto Protocol measures to an EU drive to include policies and  Americas: Vulnerability, Adaptation and Mitigation," along with the
measures in the work programme. US EPA, the Climate Institute, and the International Hurricane Cente

The resulting exchanges between negotiators were described ahe event will be held at Florida International University in Miami,
“confrontational in a mild form” but, all in all, a wasted opportunity. from 30 November - December 4, 1998 (two days of training work-
Parties came away with a positive outcome that indicates a clear dssiogs and three days of conference with breakout sessions). For mc
to move forward with a plan of work. The task of agenda setting turigfdrmation see http://www.cpacc.org/infoev.htm, or contact Sheryl
into a complex attempt to anticipate important debates and exercis@nopchenko, OAS; tel: +1 202 458-3552.
leverage. Expectations that substantive work during the COP over  |EA INTERNATIONAL WORKSHOP ON TECHNOL O-
priority issues such as CDM were thus frustrated. GIESTO REDUCE GREENHOUSE GASEMISSIONS: This

CONCL USION: It is difficult to categorize COP-4 as aclear ~ workshop, co-sponsored by the International Energy Agency and the
success or failure. The outcome contains a number of wins for the @S Department of Energy, will be held 4-6 May 1999 in Washington,
77/China, such as useful gains on technology and finance issues. BgthFor more information, contact: John Newman, International
the EU and the Umbrella Group (for which the US acted as spokesEnergy Agency; tel: +33 1 40 57 67 15, fax: +33 1 40 57 67 49, e-mal
person at the final round of high-level negotiations) had reasons tojohn.newman@iea.org or Jeffery Dowd, US Department of Energy;
promote such an outcome. The EU was conscious of the lack of atteh-+1 202 586-7258; fax: +1 202 586-4447; e-mail:
tion paid to G-77/China demands in Kyoto and made serious effortiefbdowd@hg.doe.gov.
address them in Buenos Aires. The Umbrella Group had a strong AIRPOLLUTION CONFERENCE: The International Confer-
interest in moving quickly on the elaboration of guidelines and prineince on Modelling, Monitoring and Management of Air Pollution will
ples for the flexibility mechanisms. With the prospect of Argentina'se held from 27-29 July 1999 in San Francisco, USA. For more infor-
voluntary commitment at COP-5, the US has begun to see the resulisatfon contact: the Conference Secretariat, AIR POLLUTION 99,
its strategy to create conditions for the evolution of the UNFCCC/ Wessex Institute of Technology, Ashurst, Southampton, SO40 7AA,
Kyoto Protocol process and mechanisms. The inability to reach agt#i€: tel: +44 (0) 1703 293223; fax: +44 (0) 1703 29285; e-mail:
ment in the subsidiary bodies and the consequent need for high-levat@wessex.ac.uk; Internet: http://www.wessex.ac.uk.
political decision-making once again underlined the inadequacy of the
existing processes to resolve the complex issues at stake. One modest
response to this situation was a decision to make greater use of
intersessional ministerial meetings, an indication that the Kyoto
Protocol is destined to absorb the time and energy of political adminis-
trations throughout the world.



